UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-16-2014

Arnold v. City of Stanley Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41600

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal addresses a narrow issue of statutory interpretation concerning two words contained, but not defined, in the Idaho Open Meeting Law. Idaho Code § 67-2347(6) grants statutory standing to commence a civil action, seeking to require compliance with the Idaho Open Meeting Law, to "[a]ny person affected by a violation of the provisions of" the statutory provisions set forth in the Idaho Open Meeting Law. Upon a successful showing of noncompliance in a suit brought by a person "affected by" a violation of the Open Meeting Law requirements, the statute mandates that the governmental action giving rise to such suit "shall be null and void." I.C. § 67-2347(1).

In the instant case, it is undisputed (and was undisputed in the proceedings below, as found by the district court) that Respondent City of Stanley ("the City") did not comply with the provisions of the Idaho Open Meeting Law, specifically the notice requirements of I.C. § 67-2343, when it passed City Ordinance No. 189 on August 9, 2012. It is also undisputed that Appellants Thomas and Rebecca Arnold (the "Appellants"), who own real property in Stanley undisputedly affected by Ordinance No. 189, timely commenced a civil action to challenge the City's failure to abide by said notice requirements, in accordance with the time limitations imposed by I.C. § 67-2347(6). The only issue to be decided on appeal, then, is whether these affected property owners have the requisite statutory standing to challenge a government entity's failure to abide by the Idaho Open Meeting Law; in other words, whether an owner of real property affected by government action taken in contravention of the Open Meeting Law.

The facts of the proceedings below are neither complex nor extensive, and they are undisputed in the record below: Plaintiff-Appellant Rebecca Arnold is and at all times relevant hereto has been a resident of Boise, Ada County, Idaho. (Affidavit of Rebecca Arnold in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, filed concurrently herewith ("Arnold Aff."), ¶ 2.) (R. at 34 (¶ 2).) Plaintiff-Appellant Thomas Arnold is and at all times relevant hereto has been a resident of Custer County, Idaho. (R. at 34, 35 (¶ 3).) Together, the Arnolds own real property within the City of Stanley, County of Custer, Idaho, more particularly described as follows: Lot 5 of Mountain View Subdivision, according to the official Plat thereof, recorded on June 7, 2007 as Instrument No. 236774, in the records of Custer County, Idaho; and Parcel B according to the Record of Survey thereof, recorded September 1, 2005 as Instrument No. 232245, in the official records of Custer County, Idaho, which real property has been affected by those actions of the City that give rise to this action ("Property"). (R. at 34, 35 (¶ 4), 40 (Ex. A).) The City is a political subdivision of the state of Idaho and is located within Custer County, Idaho.

On or about August 7, 2012, by and through Mr. Doug Plass, the City Clerk and Treasurer for the City, the City provided notice to interested persons of the date and time for three public hearings to take place on August 9, 2012, to wit:

- a. Thursday, August 9, 2011 [sic] at <u>5:00 pm</u>, for "public comment on proposed Ordinance #189";
- b. Thursday, August 9, 2011 [sic] at <u>5:15 pm</u>, for "public comment and consideration of an Application for Variance" requested by River 1 Inc.; and

c. Thursday, August 9, 2011 [sic] at <u>5:30 pm</u>, for "public comment on the proposed
FY13 City of Stanley Budget."

(R. at 34, 35 (¶¶ 5-7), 44-49 (Exs. B-D).)

On August 9, 2012, at 5:25 p.m., in contravention of the notices provided as identified above, the City convened a public hearing for the purpose of deliberating toward a decision on the City's Fiscal Year 2013 Budget (the "5:25 p.m. Hearing"). (R. at 34, 36 (¶ 9).) Based on the audio recording of the 5:25 p.m. Hearing, the City closed the 5:25 p.m. Hearing at or about 5:29 p.m., before the time actually noticed for the hearing on the Fiscal Year 2013 Budget. (R. at 34, 36, (¶ 10).) The City had not previously posted any meeting notice or agenda for a budget hearing to be held on August 9, 2012 at 5:25 p.m., and did not amend the meeting notice or agenda that had been published on August 7, 2012. (R. at 34, 36 (¶ 11).) Though the City posted a meeting and agenda notice for a Public Hearing on the FY2013 Budget to be held August 9, 2012 at 5:30 p.m., the entire hearing was conducted prior to the time identified by that Notice. (R. at 34, 36 (¶ 12).)

In addition to the public hearing identified in the foregoing paragraphs, the City had a regularly-scheduled Stanley City Council Meeting set for 6:00 p.m. on Thursday, August 9, 2012. (R. at 34, 36 (¶ 13).) On August 9, 2012 at 5:31 p.m., approximately twenty-nine (29) minutes before the scheduled time for the City Council Meeting, the Mayor of the City convened a City Council meeting to make decisions and/or to deliberate toward decisions, including a decision and/or deliberation on Ordinance No. 189 (the "5:31 p.m. Meeting"). (R. at 34, 36 (¶ 14).) The City had not provided any meeting notice or agenda notice for a City Council

meeting to be held on August 9, 2012 at 5:31 p.m. (R. at 34, 37 (¶ 15).) Though the City posted a meeting notice and agenda notice for a regular City Council meeting to be held on August 9, 2012 at 6:00 p.m., such notice did not notify interested parties of a meeting that actually started at 5:31 p.m. (R. at 34, 37 (¶ 16), 54 (Ex. E).) The City did not amend the agenda that the City used at the 5:31 p.m. Meeting. The City proceeded to then hear matters that were not on the agenda for the City Council meeting scheduled for 6:00 p.m. (R. at 34, 37 (¶ 16), 54 (Ex. F).) At the 5:31 p.m. Meeting, among other actions, the City enacted Ordinance No. 189, which Ordinance adversely affects Plaintiffs' rights with respect to the Property. (R. at 34, 37 (¶ 17), 75 (Ex. G).) All of the starting and ending times of the various hearings and meetings relevant hereto are noted in the Official Minutes of the August 9, 2012 proceedings, meaning there is can be no dispute that the facts material to this case evidence a failure by the City of Stanley to comply with its own published notices and agendas for those proceedings, and therefore no dispute that the City's actions did in fact violate Idaho's Open Meeting Law. (*See* R. at 34, 37 (¶ 16), 54 (Ex. F).)

Ordinance No. 189, passed by the City Council at the 5:31 p.m. Meeting, modified Stanley Municipal Code Sections 17.24.010, 020 and 030, and 17.26.010, to limit the usage of property located within the Stanley City Limits that lacks certain frontage on a street or highway. Specifically, the Municipal Code was amended to instruct that, "for each dwelling erected or maintained" in Stanley, the property on which that dwelling sits must have "a minimum lot or parcel width of forty-eight feet (48') per building," which lot width was specified by Ordinance 189 to mean "street or highway frontage when it exists, or to the minimum dimensions of a lot without frontage." (R. at 34, 37 (¶ 18).) The Arnolds' Property has street frontage, but does not have frontage of forty-eight feet on a public street or highway, as is required by Ordinance No. 189 (the effect being that the Arnolds' Property is 'unbuildable' according to the Stanley Municipal Code following the enactment of Ordinance No. 189). (R. at 34, 38 (¶ 20).) The Arnolds are therefore persons affected by the City's actions at the 5:31 p.m. Meeting, as their private property rights were adversely affected by actions taken by the City. (R. at 34, 38 (¶ 19).)

On September 6, 2012, within the 30 days required under Idaho Code § 67-2347(6), the Arnolds filed suit in the Magistrate Division of the Custer County District Court, in the Seventh Judicial District of the State of Idaho.¹ (R. at 8.) The case was assigned to the Honorable Joel E. Tingey. (*Id.*) On July 5, 2013, the Arnolds filed their Motion for Summary Judgment, supported by a Memorandum in Support thereof and an Affidavit of Rebecca Arnold, seeking entry of judgment as a matter of law on the grounds that the undisputable (and, later, undisputed) facts

¹ Though the Arnolds clearly filed their Complaint with the requisite notation, "<u>Magistrate Division</u>," so as to comply with the mandate of I.C. § 67-2347(6) that a challenge under the Idaho Open Meeting Law be filed in the Magistrate Division of the appropriate local court, it appears that neither the City nor the District Court for Custer County considered the matter to have been actually in the Magistrate Division. (*See, e.g.*, R. at 14 (no notation of Magistrate Division in the City's Answer) and R. at 173 (no notation of Magistrate Division in the District Court's filings).) The Arnolds continued to file documents with the "Magistrate Division" notation throughout the underlying proceedings, as it was their understanding (in view of I.C. § 67-2347(6)) that the proper venue for the action was in the Magistrate Division. (R. at 9 (citing I.C. § 67-2347(6)) in the Venue allegation of the Complaint).) This appeal was therefore originally filed in the District Court for Custer County (R. at 185-192), but upon notification to the Arnolds' counsel that matter was considered by the District Court to have already been resolved at the District Court level, the Arnolds filed the instant Appeal to this Court (R. at 193-197).

demonstrated that the City had not complied with the notice requirements of the Open Meeting Law in passing Ordinance #189. (R. at 22-80.) With its Motion for Summary Judgment, the Arnolds also filed and served a Notice of Hearing, scheduling a hearing for their Motion for Summary Judgment on August 21, 2013. (R. at 6.) On August 5, 2013, the parties executed a Stipulation to reset that hearing, as counsel for the City was not available for the scheduled August 21, 2013 hearing date, and the hearing was rescheduled to take place on September 18, 2013. (*Id.*)

Subsequently, the City filed its own Motion for Summary Judgment on September 3, 2013, which was supported by an Affidavit of Doug Plass and a Memorandum both in support of the City's Motion for Summary Judgment and in Response to the Arnolds' Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 81-162.) The City also filed and served a Notice of Hearing, scheduling a hearing on the City's Motion for Summary Judgment for October 16, 2013. The City further attached a number of "Exhibits" to its Memorandum, in violation of Rules 56(c) and (e) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure, as the exhibits were not attached to an Affidavit properly authenticating those documents.² The Arnolds filed their Reply Memorandum in Support of their Motion for Summary Judgment on September 11, 2013.

² Because the City filed its separate Motion for Summary Judgment on the exact same issue presented by the Arnolds' Motion for Summary Judgment, the two hearings were consolidated on the record during the first hearing, on the Arnolds' Motion for Summary Judgment, on September 18, 2013. (Tr. at pp. 5-6.) As such, the Arnolds' Responsive briefing had not yet become due when the City's Motion was heard, and the proceedings therefore did not present any opportunity for the Arnolds to brief objections to the Exhibits filed in violation of Rule 56.

Oral argument was held on September 18, 2013, on the conflicting Motions for Summary Judgment filed by the parties, and the District Court took the matter under advisement. (R. at 173.) On September 30, 2013, the Court issued its Memorandum Decision and Order, granting the City's Motion for Summary Judgment, and the attendant Judgment from which this Appeal is taken. (R. at 175-184.) In the District Court's Memorandum Decision, it confirmed there had been an undisputable violation of the Open Meeting Law: "The City's meeting minutes are undisputed as to the times the City commenced each hearing and or [sic] meeting.... The City provided notices for each meeting, but failed to amend or properly notify the public of the scheduled time changes as required by Idaho law." (R. at 181.) The Court further found that the Arnolds had "timely filed the subject action." (R. at 182.) Thus, the only question addressed by the District Court was "whether [the Arnolds] are persons 'affected by a violation of the provisions' of the Act." (*Id.*) With very little analysis, and without any citation to existing case law, the Court concluded:

Rather, the threshold issue on this case turns on the particular language of § 67-2347(6). Plaintiffs are only entitled to challenge the action if they were affected by a "*violation* of the provisions of this act". (emphasis added). The alleged violation necessarily refers to the starting time of the hearings, not the ultimate action taken in the hearing. Here, there is nothing in the record to support a claim that the Plaintiffs were affected by the early starting time.

As such, Plaintiffs are not an "affected party" and do not have standing under § 67-2347(6) to seek to void the action taken at the meeting.

On the foregoing basis, the District Court granted the City's Motion for Summary Judgment, and

the instant Appeal ensued.

ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

As noted, the sole issue in this Appeal is whether the Court erred in interpreting Idaho Code § 67-2347(6) to restrict standing, to commence a civil action to require/enforce compliance with the Idaho Open Meeting Law, only to individuals who have been adversely affected by a procedural violation of the Open Meeting Law's requirements, and not to individuals adversely affected by the substance of action taken in violation of the Open Meeting Law.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The interpretation of a statute is a question of law over which" the Idaho Supreme Court "exercises free review." *BECO Const. Co., Inc. v. J-U-B Engineers, Inc.*, 145 Idaho 719, 726, 184 P.3d 844, 851 (2008) (quoting *Carrier v. Lake Pend Oreille Sch. Dist. # 84*, 142 Idaho 804, 807, 134 P.3d 655, 658 (2006)). The Court "must construe a statute to give effect to the Legislature's intent." *Id.* "Statutory interpretation begins with an examination of the literal words of the statute." *Thomas v. Worthington*, 132 Idaho 825, 829, 979 P.2d 1183, 1187 (1999) (citing *State ex rel. Lisby v. Lisby*, 126 Idaho 776, 779, 890 P.2d 727, 730 (1995)). "The language of the statute is to be given its plain, obvious and rational meaning." *Id.* (citation omitted). "In attempting to discern and implement the intent of the legislature, the Court may seek edification from the statute's legislative history and contemporaneous context at enactment." *Id.* (citing *Corporation of Presiding Bishop v. Ada County*, 123 Idaho 410, 416, 849 P.2d 83, 89 (1993)).

ARGUMENT

I. The Letter And Purpose Of The Idaho Open Meeting Law Supports A Broad Allowance Of Statutory Standing For Idaho Citizens To Maintain Their Sovereignty.

The stated purpose of the Idaho Open Meeting Law leaves no room for doubt that the Idaho Legislature intended the law to afford broad protections to the people of the state of Idaho against the type of abuses that can occur when proceedings and deliberations are kept from the public eye:

The people of the state of Idaho in creating the instruments of government that serve them, do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies so created. Therefore, the legislature finds and declares that it is the policy of this state that the formation of public policy is public business and shall not be conducted in secret.

I.C. § 67-2340.

The purpose of the Open Meeting Law has been reaffirmed throughout its Legislative History. For example, when the Legislature amended the statute in 1977 to add Section 67-2347 – wherein the Legislature first declared that a violation of the Open Meeting Law would render the action taken "null and void," – the Statement of Purpose for the enacting legislation stated that the addition was "to provide a remedy for violations in order to achieve the original goal of guaranteeing the public's right to know." (Statement of Purpose, H.B. 257 (1977).)

Since that time, the Legislature has amended the Open Meeting Law and underscored the need to maintain the broad and cohesive policies of both ensuring access to meetings and deliberations of the government, as well as providing Idaho citizens with a remedy for violations of the Open Meeting Law by their governing bodies. In 1992, the Legislature passed legislation

to "add[] . . . the private right to seek compliance with the act." (Statement of Purpose, H.B. 793 (1992).) In those 1992 amendments to I.C. § 67-2347 (originally added in 1977, *supra*), the Legislature added the private right of action to commence a civil action to require compliance with the Open Meeting Law, and expanded the language of what would give rise to nullification of a governmental action taken in violation of the Open Meeting Law, such that any violation of an "action taken, or any deliberation or decision-making that leads to an action," would render the ultimate "action" null and void. (Idaho Session Laws 1992, Ch. 156, Section 4, p. 509 (no emphasis added; legislative amendments shown).) As recently as 2004, the Idaho Legislature again reaffirmed, in the statement of purpose for the 2004 amendments to the Open Meeting Law, its intention "to better serve the intended purpose of ensuring that the public may attend the meeting." (Statement of Purpose, H.B. 534 (2004) (emphasis added).)

The history of the Open Meeting Law indisputably reveals the broad intention of the Legislature to protect the people of the state of Idaho from abuses of the Open Meeting Law, and to provide the people of the State with an enforcement mechanism to guarantee compliance therewith. To these explicit ends, and with limited exception, the Idaho Open Meeting Law broadly requires that "all meetings of a governing body of a public agency shall be open to the public and all persons shall be permitted to attend any meeting except as otherwise provided by this act." I.C. § 67-2342. The law sets forth particular requirements for the methods and manner in which a public body must give notice of meetings:

No less than a five (5) calendar day meeting notice and a fortyeight (48) hour agenda notice shall be given unless otherwise provided by statute. Provided however, that any public agency that holds meetings at regular intervals of at least once per calendar month scheduled in advance over the course of the year may satisfy this meeting notice by giving meeting notices at least once each year of its regular meeting schedule. The notice requirement for meetings and agendas shall be satisfied by posting such notices and agendas in a prominent place at the principal office of the public agency, or if no such office exists, at the building where the meeting is to be held.

I.C. § 67-2343(1). In addition to notice of the actual meetings, the law sets forth a stringent

requirement for the publication of a meeting agenda in advance of each scheduled meeting:

An agenda shall be required for each meeting. The agenda shall be posted in the same manner as the notice of the meeting. An agenda may be amended, provided that a good faith effort is made to include, in the original agenda notice, all items known to be probable items of discussion.

(a) If an amendment to an agenda is made after an agenda has been posted but forty-eight (48) hours or more prior to the start of a regular meeting, or twenty-four (24) hours or more prior to the start of a special meeting, then the agenda is amended upon the posting of the amended agenda.

(b) If an amendment to an agenda is proposed after an agenda has been posted and less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to a regular meeting or less than twenty-four (24) hours prior to a special meeting but prior to the start of the meeting, the proposed amended agenda shall be posted but shall not become effective until a motion is made at the meeting and the governing body votes to amend the agenda.

(c) An agenda may be amended after the start of a meeting upon a motion that states the reason for the amendment and states the good faith reason the agenda item was not included in the original agenda posting.

I.C. § 67-2343(1). Subject to the specifically-enumerated methods for amending a meeting

agenda, then, a public body must comply with the notice requirements. Id.

In order to enforce compliance with the Idaho Open Meeting Law, the Idaho Legislature

determined that it would be in the best interest of the people of the state of Idaho that the law be strict and unequivocal about a failure to abide by the law:

> If an action, or any deliberation or decision[-]making that leads to an action, occurs at any meeting which fails to comply with the provisions of sections 67-2340 through 67-2346, Idaho Code, such action shall be null and void.

I.C. § 67-2347(1). In other words, though the Legislature deemed it prudent to provide broad protections to the people of the state of Idaho, its tolerance for abuses and violations of the law is very narrow. The law is not worded narrowly to create a cause of action *only* upon a procedural deliberation or decision-making that leads to an action; rather, the law specifically indicates that the action, itself, may give rise to standing to assert a cause of action for a violation of the open meeting law. (*Id.*) In such cases, "*[a]ny* person affected by a violation of the provisions of" the act may bring an action seeking injunctive and declaratory relief rendering those actions null and void.³ I.C. § 67-2347(6). The thematic breadth of the law continues through the recitation of the time limits for filing such an action: "Any suit brought for the purpose of having an action shall be commenced within thirty (30) days of the time of the *decision or action* that results, *in whole or in part*, from a meeting that failed to comply with the provisions of this act." *Id.* (emphasis added).

³ The District Court apparently and rightfully recognized, as urged by the Arnolds (Tr. at pp. 9:7 - 11:24; R. at 166-168), that the Idaho Open Meeting Law created a statutory standing requirement separate from and superior to standard Article III standing, and thereby did not accept the City's invitation to analyze the Arnolds' case from an Article III perspective. (R. at

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