8-12-2014

Arnold v. City of Stanley Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41600

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

III. ARGUMENT

- A. The District Court correctly determined that Arnold lacks standing to challenge an open meetings violation where there is no evidence that she was affected by the alleged violation, i.e. early meeting times.**

Arnold appeals the district court's decision that she lacks standing to allege various violations of the open meetings laws pursuant to Idaho Code §67-2347(6) as a means to overturn a disfavored zoning ordinance where she was unaffected by the city's commencement of the meeting earlier than noticed. The threshold issue in this case turns upon the district court's interpretation of Idaho Code §67-2347(6) which empowers a private right of action for "[a]ny person *affected by a violation* of the provisions of this act". (emphasis added). Arnold wishes to take the two words "affected by" out of context by arguing that standing is afforded not only to one affected by a violation of the act, but to any "property owner whose property interests are actually adversely affected by the governmental action taken in violation of the Open Meeting Law."¹⁶

1. Standard of Review

This Court exercises free review over matters of statutory interpretation.¹⁷ The interpretation of a statute

must begin with the literal words of the statute; those words must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning; and the statute must be construed as a whole. If the statute is not ambiguous, this Court does not construe it, but simply follows the law as written.¹⁸

¹⁶ Appellants Opening Brief, p. 13, l. 3-4.

¹⁷ *KGF Dev., LLC v. City of Ketchum*, 149 Idaho 524, 527, 236 P.3d 1284, 1287 (2010) (quoting *State v. Doe*, 147 Idaho 326, 327, 208 P.3d 730, 731 (2009))

¹⁸ *Verska v. Saint Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 151 Idaho 889, 893, 265 P.3d 502, 506 (2011) (quoting *State v. Schwartz*, 139 Idaho 360, 362, 79 P.3d 719, 721 (2003)).

“We have consistently held that where statutory language is unambiguous, legislative history and other extrinsic evidence should not be consulted for the purpose of altering the clearly expressed intent of the legislature.”¹⁹

2. “...affected by a violation of the ... [open meetings] act

That the hearings/deliberations began early is not at issue. The notice and agenda advertised a public hearing to begin at 5:00 p.m. for public comment on Ordinance 189; a zoning ordinance. It began at 5:03 where notably the City Clerk read into the record Arnold’s written testimony. Similarly the duly published notice and agenda advertised a public hearing to begin at 5:30 p.m. for public comment on Ordinance 188 City of Stanley Budget for FY 2013. It began at 5:25. The agenda additionally stated that the City Council’s deliberation of Ordinance 188 and 189 would occur during the regular council meeting beginning at 6:00 p.m. However, soon after the public hearing was closed, the City convened the regular meeting at 5:31 p.m. which later adjourned at 6:55 pm. We do not know exactly when the deliberations of Ordinance 188 and 189 occurred in that time frame. What we do know is that Arnold did not attend at any point that evening.

3. Fairly Traceable Causal Connection: Standing is afforded only to those affected by the open meetings act violation

Arnold spends considerable time in her brief articulating the spirit and purpose of the open meetings laws which she articulates were intended to “afford broad protections ... ensuring access to meetings”. Ensuring a citizen’s access / participation to a public meeting reflects a

¹⁹ *Verska*, 151 Idaho at 893, 265 P.3d at 506 (quoting *City of Sun Valley v. Sun Valley Co.*, 123 Idaho 665, 667, 851 P.2d 961, 963 (1993)).

citizen's procedural due process right. Due process rights derive from the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, applicable to the states via the Fourteenth Amendment. Idaho's Constitution also guarantees due process. As its name implies, procedural due process deals with the procedural rights of the particular litigant. Quite the opposite from Arnold's assertion, due process is not a concept to be rigidly applied, but is a flexible concept calling for such procedural protections as are warranted by the particular situation.²⁰ Procedural due process requires some process to ensure that the individual is not arbitrarily deprived of his or her rights in violation of the state or federal constitutions. This requirement is met when the defendant is provided with notice and an opportunity to be heard.²¹

Arnold does not assert that she was denied access to a meeting and therefore the district court correctly determined that Arnold was not affected by the open meetings violation; the early starting times. Put simply, she did not attend the meeting instead relying upon her written testimony which was read into the record. Thus, whether at 5:00 p.m., 5:03 p.m., 5:25 p.m., 5:30 p.m., or up to adjournment at 6:55 pm, Arnold was not affected by the early starting times. As the district court reasoned,

The alleged violation necessarily refers to the starting time of the hearings, not the ultimate action taken at the hearing. Here, there is nothing in the record to support a claim that the Plaintiffs were affected by the early starting time. This is not a case where a party planned on making public comment but was unable to do so because of the early starting time. On the contrary, there is no evidence that Plaintiffs would have made additional comment as to the matters before the City but for the early starting times. As to Plaintiffs, the early start times were

violation. ... While the evidence establishes that the subject meetings were started early contrary to public notice, there is no evidence that the early start times had

²⁰ *Cowan v. Bd. of Comm'rs of Fremont County*, 143 Idaho 501, 510, 148 P.3d 1247, 1256 (2006).

²¹ *Id.*

an effect on Plaintiffs' ability to be present at the meetings and/or be heard. As such, Plaintiffs are not an "affected party" and do not have standing under § 67-2347(6) to seek to void the action taken at the meeting.

While the statute clearly limits standing to one affected by a violation of the act; the early meeting time is seemingly irrelevant to Arnold. Rather, Arnold is dissatisfied, "actually affected", with the result; the zoning ordinance itself. Arnold asserts that the district court interpreted Idaho Code §67-2347(6) too narrowly. Apparently conceding that the early starting times did not affect her ability to testify or attend the meeting, she nonetheless asserts that standing under §67-2347(6) is not limited to those "affected" by the open meeting act violation. Without citing to a case in support, Arnold asserts that the two words: "affected by" should be extended to any property owner dissatisfied or "actually affected" by the underlying substantive result; the text of the zoning ordinance. This virtually throws open the courthouse doors. Although a citizen may have attended and testified at a hearing for a proposed zoning ordinance amendment, standing would nonetheless be afforded under Idaho Code §67-2347(6) as a means to substantively challenge a zoning ordinance regardless of whether there is causal connection between the procedural error and individual litigant's prejudice to a substantial right to attend the hearing. The mere existence of a procedural error becomes a pretense to overturn the ordinance itself.

Arnold's interpretation is inconsistent with the plain text of Idaho Code §67-2347(6) and the considerable case precedent governing the law of standing. The statute unequivocally limits standing to those affected by a violation of the act not to those incidentally affected, even harmed, by the underlying zoning legislation. While it is understood that Arnold disagrees with

the legislative zoning enactment, she was unaffected by the early starting time as she did not attend the hearing but ably cited her reasons against the zoning amendment in writing which was read into the record. As this Court noted in *Halvorson v. North Latah County Highway District*, 151 Idaho 196, 204, 254 P.3d 497, 505 (2011), the right to procedural due process does not require that the challenging party prevail on an issue; merely that they have notice and opportunity to be heard. Arnold readily points out that the open meetings laws exist to ensure the public's access to a public meeting/hearing, but she fails to understand that where she has exercised this right, the open meetings laws are not the proper medium to substantively challenge the results of the legislative zoning enactment.

The required causal connection between the injury and the complained conduct is grounded in Idaho's case law. It is not enough for Arnold to merely allege an open meetings act procedural error to overturn a law. To have standing, the attacking party bears the burden to allege and thereafter demonstrate not only that the governing board erred procedurally but how *her* right to procedural due process has been deprived²² *by virtue of* the challenged governmental

²² Under the well-established U.S. Supreme Court precedent of *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992), the constitutional requirements to establish Article III standing boil down to three requirements: injury in fact, causation, and redressability.

Over the years, our cases have established that the irreducible constitutional minimum of standing contains three elements. First, the plaintiff must have suffered an "injury in fact"—an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized, and (b) "actual or imminent, not 'conjectural' or 'hypothetical.'" Second, there must be a causal connection ... Third, it must be "likely," as opposed to "speculative," that the injury will be "redressed by a favorable decision."

Id. Arnold believes that the open meetings law operate outside a particular litigant's Article III standing may be totally dispensed with.

conduct.²³ Similarly, Idaho Code §67-2347(6) standing is afforded only to one “affected by a violation ... of the act”. Arnold’s claim lacks the essential causality or nexus linking the alleged harm to the complained of conduct.

4. Injury / Redressability: The means to attack the validity of an ordinance

Having failed to attend the meeting nor been denied an attempt at so doing, Arnold is not affected by a violation of the open meetings act and thus she lacks standing under Idaho Code §67-2347(6) to bring such a *procedural* challenge.²⁴ Rather, her injury, if any, is attributable to the text of the zoning ordinance itself; a *substantive* challenge to the zoning ordinance, which she claims has adversely affected her development rights. In other words, it is not the City’s violation of the open meetings laws that have adversely affected her development rights, but the text of the zoning ordinance itself; the validity of which may be challenged in a takings action or declaratory judgment action; not pursuant to Idaho Code §67-2347(6). Further, since Arnold

²³ *Ciszek v. Kootenai County*, 151 Idaho 123, 133-134, 254 P.3d 24, 34-35 (2011); In *Ciszek v. Kootenai County*, the Supreme Court held that while Ciszek may have had standing to challenge a rezone of contiguous parcels for alleged procedural violations, this did not equate to a plaintiff’s denial of due process or entitlement to injunctive relief.

[T]here is no allegation that Appellants did not receive notice of the hearings or that they were unable to attend and speak at the hearings like the petitioner in *Gay*. ... “Appellants were given adequate opportunity to express their views. There simply is no ground to claim that Appellants’ due process rights were violated by the procedure employed.

151 Idaho at 130, 254 P.3d at 31; See also *Cowan v. Bd. Of Comm’rs of Fremont County*, 143 Idaho 501, 513, 148 P.3d 1247, 1259 (2006). In *Cowan*, the court noted:

[T]he Board concedes that both notices were defective. Nonetheless, Cowan has failed to demonstrate that his substantial rights were prejudiced by either defective notice. First, Cowan’s counsel attended the ... hearing and submitted a brief objecting to notice. Moreover, Cowan spoke against the application at that hearing. Therefore, even if the notice were defective, Cowan has failed to demonstrate how this defect prejudiced his substantial rights since he clearly had notice of the meeting.

Id.

was not affected by the early meeting, her “injury” cannot be redressed by a favorable decision insofar as she been afforded all of the due process that she is entitled.

IV. ATTORNEY FEES

The City may recover their reasonable costs and attorney fees pursuant to Idaho Appellate Rules 40 and 41 and Idaho Code §12-117 where it can show that the non-prevailing party acted “without a reasonable basis in fact or law”.²⁵ Idaho Code §67-2347(6) is clear and unequivocal affording standing only to one affected by a violation of the open meetings act.²⁶ Ignoring the plain and unambiguous statutory text, Arnold merely takes the two words “affected by” out of context rationalizing that standing ought to be afforded to any “property owner whose property interests are actually adversely affected by the governmental action taken in violation of the Open Meeting Law.”²⁷ Given the plethora of case law requiring a causal connection between the alleged injury / deprivation of a right and the complained conduct, Arnold knowingly brings this action under false pretenses.

The question presented to the district court is whether Arnold was “affected by a violation of the... act.” The alleged violation is an early meeting time. Arnold fails to allege much less demonstrate that she was affected by the early meeting time. She did not attend the public meeting at all and therefore whether the meeting/hearings began earlier than noticed is of no consequence to Arnold. Thus, there is no reasonable basis in fact or law. At best, her

²⁵ *Alpine Village Co. v. City of McCall*, 303 P.3d 617, 154 Idaho 930 (2013)

²⁶ See *Gardiner v. Boundary County*, 148 Idaho 764, 229 P.3d 369 (2010) where the Board ignored the plain and unambiguous text of Idaho Code 67-6512; See also *Lattin v. Adams County*, 149 Idaho 497, 236 P.3d 1257 (2010).

²⁷ Appellants Opening Brief, p. 13, l. 3-4.

development rights have been impacted by virtue of the text of the zoning ordinance, which she ably addressed in her written testimony. If she can make a case that the zoning ordinance amounts to a taking of her property or is otherwise arbitrary and capricious then she can readily bring such an action.

However, there can be no reasonable argument in fact or law that Idaho Code §67-2347(6) can perform an end-around of this process by utilizing an unrelated *di minimus* procedural error to overturn a zoning ordinance. The effect would be to throw open the courthouse doors to any litigant who, although unable to prevail in a takings claim, can nonetheless challenge an ordinance under a false pretense. The open meeting laws merely ensure the forum; the right of a citizen to have notice and an opportunity to be heard at that forum. Having exercised this right, Arnold now is attempting to clothe her dissatisfaction with the zoning ordinance in this procedural challenge. The district court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of the City and Arnold lacks a reasonable basis in fact or law on appeal.